
 

CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING  
CITY OF BAY CITY 
Tuesday, September 12, 2023 at 6:00 PM 

COUNCIL CHAMBERS | 1901 5th Street 

COUNCIL MEMBERS 

Mayor: Robert K Nelson  
Mayor Pro Tem: Blayne Finlay 
Council Members: Benjamin Flores, Bradley Westmoreland, Becca Sitz, Jim Folse 

Vision Statement 

Through a united and collaborative effort, we seek to grow the City of Bay City with a 
diverse culture that is proud to call Bay City home. We envision a thriving family-centered 
community where citizens are involved in the future development of our city. We desire 
our citizens to work, play, worship and shop in the community in which we live. Visitors 
are welcomed and encouraged to enjoy the friendly environment and amenities the 
citizens and business owners have created together. 

AGENDA 

 

 THE FOLLOWING ITEM WILL BE ADDRESSED AT THIS OR ANY OTHER MEETING OF 
THE CITY COUNCIL UPON THE REQUEST OF THE MAYOR, ANY MEMBER(S) OF 
COUNCIL AND/OR THE CITY ATTORNEY: 

 

  ANNOUNCEMENT BY THE MAYOR THAT COUNCIL WILL RETIRE INTO CLOSED SESSION FOR 
CONSULTATION WITH CITY ATTORNEY ON MATTERS IN WHICH THE DUTY OF THE ATTORNEY 
TO THE CITY COUNCIL UNDER THE TEXAS DISCIPLINARY RULES OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT 
OF THE STATE BAR OF TEXAS CLEARLY CONFLICTS WITH THE OPEN MEETINGS ACT (TITLE 5, 
CHAPTER 551, SECTION 551.071(2) OF THE TEXAS GOVERNMENT CODE). 

  

CALL TO ORDER AND CERTIFICATION OF QUORUM 

INVOCATION & PLEDGE 
Texas State Flag Pledge: "Honor The Texas Flag; I Pledge Allegiance To Thee, Texas, One 
State Under God, One And Indivisible.”  

Councilman Benjamin Flores 

MISSION STATEMENT 

The City of Bay City is committed to fostering future economic growth by collaborating with our 
citizens, employers, current and future businesses, as well as the Community and Economic 
Development Centers. We strive to deliver superior municipal services and to invest in quality-
of-life initiatives such as housing, businesses, jobs and activities for all citizens. We make a 
concerted effort to respond to resident’s concerns in a timely and professional manner in order 
to achieve customer satisfaction. 

Councilman Benjamin Flores 

Page 1



Agenda City Council Regular Meeting September 12, 2023 
 

 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

PUBLIC COMMENTS 
State Law prohibits any deliberation of or decisions regarding items presented in public 
comments. City Council may only make a statement of specific factual information given in 
response to the inquiry; recite an existing policy; or request staff places the item on an agenda 
for a subsequent meeting. 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT FROM CITY MANAGER 

ITEMS / COMMENTS FROM THE MAYOR, COUNCIL MEMBERS AND CITY MANAGER 

CONSENT AGENDA ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION AND/OR APPROVAL 

1. City Council Workshop minutes of August 15, 2023. 

2. City Council Workshop minutes of August 22, 2023. 

3. City Council Regular Meeting minutes of August 22, 2023. 

REGULAR ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION, CONSIDERATION AND/OR APPROVAL 

4. Property ~ Discuss, consider, and/or approve a declaration of unusable 
equipment: a surplus police vehicle, and authorize staff to sell said surplus 
equipment through the use of an online auction or other means. Lt. Clayton 
Ryman 

5. Tourism ~ Discuss, consider, and/or approve the Tourism Logo. P. Darve Smith, 
Tourism Manager 

6. Bid ~ Discuss, consider and/or select GFL Environmental for the Solid Waste 
Collection and Disposal and Recycling Services and Authorize the Mayor and/or 
City Manager to execute a contract approved to form by the City Attorney 
between the City of Bay City and GFL Environmental. Krystal Mason, Assistant 
Public Works Director 

7. Ordinance ~ Discuss, consider, and/or approve amending the City Code of 
Ordinances by repealing Chapter 66, Division 2 "Curfew"; repealing any 
conflicting ordinances; and providing an effective date. Anne Marie Odefey, City 
Attorney  

8. Budget ~ Discuss, consider, and/or approve the amendments to the Proposed 
Fiscal Year 2024 Budget. Scotty Jones, Finance Director 

9. Policy ~ Discuss, consider, and/or approve the Budgetary and Financial 
Management Policy. Scotty Jones, Finance Director 

CLOSED / EXECUTIVE SESSION 

RECONVENE AND ACTION 

Page 2



Agenda City Council Regular Meeting September 12, 2023 
 

 
ADJOURNMENT  

AGENDA NOTICES: 

Attendance By Other Elected or Appointed Officials: It is anticipated that members of other 
city board, commissions and/or committees may attend the meeting in numbers that may 
constitute a quorum of the other city boards, commissions and/or committees. Notice is hereby 
given that the meeting, to the extent required by law, is also noticed as a meeting of the other 
boards, commissions and/or committees of the City, whose members may be in attendance. The 
members of the boards, commissions and/or committees may participate in discussions on the 
same items listed on the agenda, which occur at the meeting, but no action will be taken by such 
in attendance unless such item and action is specifically provided for on an agenda for that 
board, commission or committee subject to the Texas Open Meetings Act. 

CERTIFICATION OF POSTING 

This is to certify that the above notice of a Regular Called Council Meeting was posted on the 
front window of the City Hall of the City of Bay City, Texas on Friday, September 8, 2023 
before 6:00 p.m. Any questions concerning the above items, please contact the Mayor and 
City Manager’s office at (979) 245-2137. 

Page 3



 

Bay City  Page 1 

CITY OF BAY CITY 
MINUTES  AUGUST 15, 2023 

COUNCIL 
CHAMBERS | 1901 
5th Street 

City Council Workshop 5:00 PM 

1901 5TH STREET 
BAY CITY TX,77414 

 

  

 

  

  Mayor   

  Robert K. Nelson   

Mayor Pro Tem  Councilman  Councilwoman 

Blayne Finlay  Bradley Westmoreland  Becca Sitz 

Councilman    Councilman 

Jim Folse    Benjamin Flores 

 

Through a united and collaborative effort, we seek to grow the City of Bay City with a diverse culture that is 
proud to call Bay City home. We envision a thriving family-centered community where citizens are involved in 

the future development of our city. We desire our citizens to work, play, worship and shop in the community in 
which we live. Visitors are welcomed and encouraged to enjoy the friendly environment and amenities the 

citizens and business owners have created together. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 4

ITEM #1.



Minutes City Council Workshop  August 15, 2023 

 

Bay City  Page 2 

CALL TO ORDER 

The meeting was called to order by Mayor Robert K. Nelson at 5:00 pm. 

CERTIFICATION OF QUORUM 

PRESENT 
Mayor Robert K. Nelson 
Mayor Pro Tem Blayne Finlay 
Councilman Benjamin Flores 
Councilman Jim Folse 
Councilman Brad Westmoreland 
Councilwoman Becca Sitz 
 

PUBLIC COMMENTS 

City employees Katy Plunkett, Tina Israel, Sgt. Chris Hadash, Chief Christella Rodriguez, Joan 
Perez, and Susie Corpus each address council regarding their concerns over the increase in 
health insurance. 

REGULAR ITEMS  FOR DISCUSSION, CONSIDERATION AND / OR APPROVAL 

1. Discuss, consider, and/or approve the 2023-2024 City of Bay City Employee 
Benefits Plan.  

Rhonda Clegg, Human Resources Director, yielded to Allison Benefits Consultants 
who reviewed the negotiated rate plans. Shawna Burkhart, City Manager, stated that 
there is an approximate 21% increase of what the city spent last year and presented 
rough numbers while recommending plan options. Councilman Folse requested to see 
the difference if city increased their contribution to rates to 90% on HMO dependent 
plans. Councilman Westmoreland requested to see differences if the city decreased 
their contribution rates to 70% on the PPO Buy Up plan. Councilman Flores requested 
to see difference if the city increased their contribution rates to 80% on PPO Buy Up 
and 85% on PPO base plan. 

Motion made by Mayor Nelson to approve Ms. Burkhart recommendations with an 
increase to 90% City contribution on the HMO plan, Seconded by Councilman 
Westmoreland. Voting Yea: Mayor Nelson, Mayor Pro Tem Finlay, Councilman Flores, 
Councilman Folse, Councilman Westmoreland, Councilwoman Sitz. Motion carried. 

Council recessed at 7:32 p.m. 

2. Discuss, consider, and/or amend the Proposed Budget of the City of Bay City for 
the 2024 Fiscal Year. 

Council reconvened at 7:53 p.m.  

Page 5

ITEM #1.



Minutes City Council Workshop  August 15, 2023 

 

Bay City  Page 3 

Scotty Jones, Finance Director, reviewed the Proposed Budget of the City of Bay City 
for the 2024 Fiscal Year.  

Councilwoman Sitz requested that a restroom on the square be put in the Capital Plan. 
Ms. Jones stated that TIRZ funds could be used for that. Councilman Westmoreland 
requested that the Hilliard Pool plaster work be held until a pool plan was in place. 
Kelly Penewitt provided photos of the condition of the pool. A 3% COLA to be added. 

ADJOURNMENT 

Motion made by Councilman Folse to adjourn, Seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Finlay. Voting 
Yea: Mayor Nelson, Mayor Pro Tem Finlay, Councilman Flores, Councilman Folse, 
Councilman Westmoreland, Councilwoman Sitz. Motion carried and the meeting adjourned at 
9:33 pm. 
 
PASSED AND APPROVED, this 12th day of September 2023. 

   

ROBERT K. NELSON, MAYOR  
CITY OF BAY CITY, TEXAS 

JEANNA THOMPSON 
CITY SECRETARY 

 

Page 6

ITEM #1.



 

Bay City  Page 1 

CITY OF BAY CITY 
MINUTES  AUGUST 22, 2023 

COUNCIL 
CHAMBERS | 1901 
5th Street 

City Council Workshop 5:00 PM 

1901 5TH STREET 
BAY CITY TX,77414 

 

  

 

  

  Mayor   

  Robert K. Nelson   

Mayor Pro Tem  Councilman  Councilwoman 

Blayne Finlay  Bradley Westmoreland  Becca Sitz 

Councilman    Councilman 

Jim Folse    Benjamin Flores 

 

Through a united and collaborative effort, we seek to grow the City of Bay City with a diverse culture that is 
proud to call Bay City home. We envision a thriving family-centered community where citizens are involved in 

the future development of our city. We desire our citizens to work, play, worship and shop in the community in 
which we live. Visitors are welcomed and encouraged to enjoy the friendly environment and amenities the 

citizens and business owners have created together. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 7

ITEM #2.



Minutes City Council Workshop  August 22, 2023 

 

Bay City  Page 2 

CALL TO ORDER 

The meeting was called to order by Mayor Pro Tem Blayne Finlay at 5:00 p.m 

CERTIFICATION OF QUORUM 

Quorum certified. 

PRESENT 
Mayor Pro Tem Blayne Finlay 
Councilman Benjamin Flores 
Councilman Jim Folse 
Councilman Brad Westmoreland 
Councilwoman Becca Sitz 
 
ABSENT 
Mayor Robert K. Nelson 
 

PUBLIC COMMENTS 

Several City employees expressed their concerns regarding the increase in medical insurance 
premiums and plan options. 

REGULAR ITEMS  FOR DISCUSSION, CONSIDERATION AND / OR APPROVAL 

1. Discuss, consider, and/or approve an increase in employee compensation. 

Shawna Burkhart, City Manager, provided different options of employee Cost of Living 
Adjustments (COLA) and impact on budget as well as comparisons to other taxing 
entities as to the employer contribution to insurance premiums. Ms. Burkhart added 
that merit increases may need to be lowered. Councilman Folse stated that he did not 
want merit decreased. Councilman Flores stated that the city's committment to 
superior municipal services requires an investment in staff and that quality input 
provides quality output. Councilman Flores added that the city has not come close to 
keeping up with inflation. Councilman Flores proposed a COLA of $2,250.00. 
Councilman Westmoreland stated that the city is more generous in employer 
contributions on insurance. 

Motion by Councilman Flores motioned to approve a $2,250.00 COLA. There was no 
second and the motion died on the floor. 

Councilwoman Sitz proposed staying with the $1,500.00 COLA and proposed merit. 

Motion made by Councilman Folse to approve a $2,000.00 COLA, Seconded by 
Mayor Pro Tem Finlay. Voting Yea: Mayor Pro Tem Finlay, Councilman Flores, 
Councilman Folse, Councilman Westmoreland, Councilwoman Sitz. Motion carried. 

Page 8

ITEM #2.



Minutes City Council Workshop  August 22, 2023 

 

Bay City  Page 3 

2. Discuss, consider, and/or amend the Proposed Budget of the City of Bay City for 
the 2024 Fiscal Year. 

Shawna Burkhart, City Manager, stated that excess reserves is an option to fund the 
increase in COLA. Scotty Jones, Finance Director, recommended going to fund 
balance. Councilman Westmoreland requested to not just use fund balances but 
suggested cuts across the board to all departments such as 1% cut each. Ms. Jones 
stated that she can go thru and find $63,000.00 and bring back to Council. 

ADJOURNMENT 

Motion made by Councilwoman Sitz to adjourn, Seconded by Councilman Flores. Voting Yea: 
Mayor Pro Tem Finlay, Councilman Flores, Councilman Folse, Councilman Westmoreland, 
Councilwoman Sitz. Motin carried and Council adjourned at 6:05 pm. 
 
PASSED AND APPROVED, this 12th day of September 2023. 

   

ROBERT K. NELSON, MAYOR  
CITY OF BAY CITY, TEXAS 

JEANNA THOMPSON 
CITY SECRETARY 

 

Page 9

ITEM #2.



 

Bay City  Page 1 

CITY OF BAY CITY 
MINUTES  AUGUST 22, 2023 

COUNCIL 
CHAMBERS | 1901 
5th Street 

City Council Regular Meeting 6:00 PM 

1901 5TH STREET 
BAY CITY TX,77414 

 

  

 

  

  Mayor   

  Robert K. Nelson   

Mayor Pro Tem  Councilman  Councilwoman 

Blayne Finlay  Bradley Westmoreland  Becca Sitz 

Councilman    Councilman 

Jim Folse    Benjamin Flores 

 

Through a united and collaborative effort, we seek to grow the City of Bay City with a diverse culture that is 
proud to call Bay City home. We envision a thriving family-centered community where citizens are involved in 

the future development of our city. We desire our citizens to work, play, worship and shop in the community in 
which we live. Visitors are welcomed and encouraged to enjoy the friendly environment and amenities the 

citizens and business owners have created together. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 10

ITEM #3.



Minutes City Council Regular Meeting  August 22, 2023 

 

Bay City  Page 2 

CALL TO ORDER AND CERTIFICATION OF QUORUM 

The meeting was called to order by Mayor Pro Tem Blayne Finlay at 6:11 p.m. 

PRESENT 
Mayor Pro Tem Blayne Finlay 
Councilman Benjamin Flores 
Councilman Jim Folse 
Councilman Brad Westmoreland 
Councilwoman Becca Sitz 
 
ABSENT 
Mayor Robert K. Nelson 
 

INVOCATION & PLEDGE 
Texas State Flag Pledge: "Honor The Texas Flag; I Pledge Allegiance To Thee, Texas, One 
State Under God, One And Indivisible.”  

Mayor Pro Tem Finlay 

MISSION STATEMENT 

The City of Bay City is committed to fostering future economic growth by collaborating with our 
citizens, employers, current and future businesses, as well as the Community and Economic 
Development Centers. We strive to deliver superior municipal services and to invest in quality-
of-life initiatives such as housing, businesses, jobs and activities for all citizens. We make a 
concerted effort to respond to resident’s concerns in a timely and professional manner in order 
to achieve customer satisfaction. 

Mayor Pro Tem Finlay 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

Motion made by Councilman Folse to approve the agenda, Seconded by Councilman 
Westmoreland. Voting Yea: Mayor Pro Tem Finlay, Councilman Flores, Councilman Folse, 
Councilman Westmoreland, Councilwoman Sitz. Motion carried. 
 

PUBLIC COMMENTS 
Jay Howard with Texas Disposal Systems discussed the RFP for waste collection and the 
inefficient time allowed between the award time and start date of two weeks and doubts 
anyone will bid because of this. Mr. Howard stated that it takes two to three months for start up 
setting up accounts, routes, and equipment needs. Mr. Howard believes gives current 
contractor the advantage because they already are set up. 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT FROM CITY MANAGER 

Page 11

ITEM #3.



Minutes City Council Regular Meeting  August 22, 2023 

 

Bay City  Page 3 

There were no acknowledgements. 

ITEMS / COMMENTS FROM THE MAYOR, COUNCIL MEMBERS AND CITY MANAGER 

Councilman Folse requested the Waste Management RFP be on a future agenda. Councilman 
Folse commented that Chick-Fil-A was coming along and that Tepeyak road was looking good. 
Councilman Flores agreed and thanked the street crew. Mayor Pro Tem Finlay reminded 
council of the 100 Club Banquet Friday. Mayor Pro Tem Finlay also added that tonights 
workshop was the hardest meeting he's done. 

CONSENT AGENDA ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION AND/OR APPROVAL 

1. City Council Regular Meeting minutes of July 25, 2023. 

2. City Council Regular Meeting minutes of August 8, 2023. 

3. City Council Workshop minutes of August 10, 2023. 

Motion made by Councilman Westmoreland to approve consent items with changes to 
minutes of July 25th and August 8th, Seconded by Councilman Folse. Voting Yea: Mayor 
Pro Tem Finlay, Councilman Flores, Councilman Folse, Councilman Westmoreland, 
Councilwoman Sitz. Motion carried. 

DEPARMENT REPORTS 

4. Public Works Reports and Updates.  

Krystal Mason, Assistant Public Works Director, provided council with a presentation 
reviewing work order stats and project updates. 

REGULAR ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION, CONSIDERATION AND/OR APPROVAL 

5. Tax ~ Consider placing a proposal to adopt a Tax Rate for the 2024 Fiscal Year 
as an action item on the agenda of a future Council meeting, specifying therein 
the desired tax rate and publishing notice thereof.  

Scotty Jones, Finance Director, reviewed tax calculations and recommended a tax 
rate of 0.58000. Councilman Westmoreland stated that he did not want new revenue, 
adding that citizens and businesses are struggling and emphasized he desired the “no 
new revenue” rate. 

Motion made by Councilwoman Sitz to approve placing a proposal to adopt a tax rate 
for Fiscal Year 2024 as an action item on the September 26, 2023 Council agenda 
with a rate of 0.56995 per 100 value and publishing notice thereof, Seconded by 
Councilman Westmoreland. Voting Yea: Mayor Pro Tem Finlay, Councilman Flores, 
Councilman Folse, Councilman Westmoreland, Councilwoman Sitz. 

Council was polled: 

Page 12

ITEM #3.



Minutes City Council Regular Meeting  August 22, 2023 

 

Bay City  Page 4 

Mayor Robert K. Nelson  Absent 

Mayor Pro Tem Blayne Finlay   Yea 
 
Councilman Jim Folse   Yea 

Councilwoman Becca Sitz   Yea 

Councilman Brad Westmoreland Yea 

Councilman Benjamin Flores  Yea 

Motion carried.  

6. Tax ~ Consider setting a Public Hearing on the Proposed 2024 Fiscal Year Tax 
Rate for Thursday, September 7, 2023. Scotty Jones, Finance director 

Item removed from agenda, not required. 

7. Budget ~ Consider setting a Public Hearing on the City of Bay City's proposed 
2024 Fiscal Year Budget and the City of Bay City's Five-Year 
Capital Improvement Plan for Thursday, September 7, 2023.  

Items 7 and 8 were discussed by Council regarding attendance on September 7th and 
a quorum was not available. 

Motion made by Councilwoman Sitz to set a Public Hearing on the City of Bay City's 
proposed 2024 Fiscal Year Budget and the City of Bay City's Five-Year 
Capital Improvement Plan for Thursday, September 21, 2023, Seconded by 
Councilman Westmoreland. Voting Yea: Mayor Pro Tem Finlay, Councilman Flores, 
Councilman Folse, Councilman Westmoreland, Councilwoman Sitz. Motion carried. 
 

8. Budget ~ Consider setting a Public Hearing on the Bay City Community 
Development Corporation's proposed 2024 Fiscal Year Budget for Thursday, 
September 7, 2023. Scotty Jones, Finance Director 

Motion made by Councilwoman Sitz to set a Public Hearing on the Bay City 
Community Development Corporation's proposed 2024 Fiscal Year Budget  for 
Thursday, September 21, 2023, Seconded by Councilman Westmoreland. Voting Yea: 
Mayor Pro Tem Finlay, Councilman Flores, Councilman Folse, Councilman 
Westmoreland, Councilwoman Sitz. Motion carried. 

9. Services ~ Discuss, Consider, and/or Approve Harrison, Waldrop, and Uherek 
L.L.P. to provide Audit Services for the City of Bay City for the Year Ending 
September 30, 2023. Scotty Jones, Finance Director 

Page 13

ITEM #3.



Minutes City Council Regular Meeting  August 22, 2023 

 

Bay City  Page 5 

Motion made by Councilman Flores to approve HWU audit services, Seconded by 
Councilman Folse. Voting Yea: Mayor Pro Tem Finlay, Councilman Flores, 
Councilman Folse, Councilman Westmoreland, Councilwoman Sitz. Motion carried. 
 

10. Bid ~ Consider and award of a bid regarding purchase of the surface only of real 
property (no improvements owned by City) located at 2318 Avenue K, Bay City 
Texas, described as Bay City Original Townsite, Block 145, Lot 9-12. 

Motion made by Councilman Folse to award purchase of the surface only of real 
property (no improvements owned by City) located at 2318 Avenue K, Bay City Texas, 
described as Bay City Original Townsite, Block 145, Lot 9-12 to Girl Scout Troop 
156085, Seconded by Councilwoman Sitz. Voting Yea: Mayor Pro Tem Finlay, 
Councilman Flores, Councilman Folse, Councilman Westmoreland, Councilwoman 
Sitz. Motion carried. 

ADJOURNMENT  

Motion made by Councilman Westmoreland to adjourn, Seconded by Councilwoman 
Sitz. Voting Yea: Mayor Pro Tem Finlay, Councilman Flores, Councilman Folse, Councilman 
Westmoreland, Councilwoman Sitz. Motion carried and council adjourned at 7:40 p.m. 

 
PASSED AND APPROVED, this 12th day of September 2023. 

   

BLAYNE FINLAY, MAYOR PRO TEM  

CITY OF BAY CITY, TEXAS 

JEANNA THOMPSON 

CITY SECRETARY 

 

Page 14

ITEM #3.



 

CITY OF BAY CITY  
1901 FIFTH STREET AGENDA ITEM SUBMISSION FORM BAY CITY, TEXAS 77414 
(979) 245-2137  
FAX: (979) 323-1626  

Any item(s) to be considered for action by the City Council, must be included on this form, and 
be submitted along with any supporting documentation.  Completed Agenda Item Submission 
forms must be submitted to the City Secretary’s Office no later than 4:00 p.m. on the Monday of 
the week prior to the Regular Council meeting. 

Requestor Name:  Ryman, Clayton  Date Submitted: 09/06/23 
 Last, First    MM/DD/YYYY 

Requestor Type :  City Staff Meeting Date: 09/06/23 
 Citizen/City Staff/Council Member  MM/DD/YYYY 

Position Title  Lieutenant  
 For City Staff Only  

Agenda Location:  
 (e.g.: Consent Agenda/ Discussion Item/ Public Hearing/ Executive Session/ Presentation) 

Agenda Content: 

Discuss, consider, and/or approve a declaration of unusable equipment: a surplus police vehicle, and authorize 
staff to sell said surplus equipment through the use of an online auction or other means. Lieutenant Clayton 
Ryman  

Executive Summary of Item: 
Unit number: 721 

Year: 2009 

Make: Dodge 

Model: Charger  

Mileage:  90,000 miles 

 

Unit number: 654 

Year: 2003 

Make: Ford 

Model: F150 

Mileage: 150,930 

Page 15

ITEM #4.



 

 

1 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER __________________ 

ORDINANCE AMENDING THE CITY CODE OF ORDINANCES BY 

REPEALING CHAPTER 66, DIVISION 2. CURFEW; REPEALING ANY 

CONFLICTING ORDINANCES; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE 

DATE. 

 

WHEREAS, HB 1819 adopted in the 2023 legislative session prohibits municipalities from 

enforcing a curfew on individuals age 18 or younger. 

 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BAY CITY, 

TEXAS:   

 

Section 1.  That the Code of Ordinances of the City of Bay City, Texas be, and the same is, hereby 

amended by repealing Chapter 66, Division 2. Curfew, of the Code of Ordinances. 

Section 2:  All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 

Section 3:  The City Secretary shall publish the caption or a descriptive title of this ordinance one 

time within 10 days after final passage of the ordinance in a newspaper of general circulation in 

the City of Bay City. 

 

Section 4:  That if any provision of this ordinance, or the application thereof to any person or 

circumstances, shall be held invalid or unconstitutional by a court of competent jurisdiction, such 

invalidity shall not affect the other provisions, or application thereof, of this ordinance which can 

be given effect without the invalid provision or application, and to this end the provisions of this 

ordinance are declared to be severable.              

 

Section 5:    That the provisions of this ordinance shall become effective 10 days after final passage 

and approval by the City Council of the City of Bay City, Texas.   

 

PASSED AND APPROVED on this ____ day of ___________________, 2023. 

 

 

____________________________________ 

       Robert K. Nelson, Mayor 

       City of Bay City, Texas 

 

 

ATTEST:        APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

_____________________________________ ____________________________________ 

Jeanna Thompson, City Secretary   Anne Marie Odefey, City Attorney 

Lillie Norris, Deputy City Secretary 

City of Bay City, Texas  

Page 16

ITEM #7.



 

 

2 
 

 

COUNCIL MEMBER VOTED AYE  VOTED NO  ABSENT 

 

James Folse         __________ 

 

Ben Flores         __________ 

 

Brad Westmoreland        __________ 

 

Becca Sitz         __________ 

 

Blayne Finlay         __________ 

 

Robert K. Nelson  ____________ ____________ __________  

Mayor 

 

 

_______________________________ 

Robert K. Nelson, Mayor 

City of Bay City, Texas 

 

 

 

 

Page 17

ITEM #7.



Page 18

ITEM #8.



Page 19

ITEM #8.



~ DISCUSS, CONSIDER, AND/OR APPROVE THE BUDGETARY AND FINANCIAL 

MANAGEMENT POLICY 

 

 

 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

 BUDGETARY & FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT POLICY 
 

 

BACKGROUND: 

The GFOA recommends that Financial Policies be reviewed by the governing body at least 

annually.  

The Policy itself requires an annual review. This is usually reviewed in conjunction with the City’s 

annual budget process.  

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: 

Financial Policies protect City dollars by providing sound proactive guidelines to follow for fiscal 

accountability.  

IMPACT ON COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY: 

Provides policy guidelines to protect City dollars. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff recommends City Council annually approve the Budgetary and Financial Management Policy 

document. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

Budgetary & Financial Management Policy  

Page 20

ITEM #9.



  
Page 1 

 
  

 
 

 

Budgetary & Financial Management Policies  
 

The goal of formally adopting financial management and budgetary policies is to provide sound 

guidelines in planning the City's financial future.  The adoption and adherence to these policies will help 

ensure long-term financial stability and a healthy financial position for the City of Bay City.  

General Budgetary Policies 

Budget Preparation  

The City Budget shall be prepared in accordance with all applicable Charter requirements and State 

laws.  The goal each year shall be to present the Proposed Budget to Council no later than six weeks 

prior to the end of the fiscal year and for the final approval of the Budget to be ready for Council action 

no later than two weeks before the end of the fiscal year.  The Budget shall be comprehensive in nature 

and address all major funds of the City. 

Government Finance Officer Association Distinguished Budget Program  

The goal this year and each year following will be for the City's Budget to conform to the requirements of 

the Distinguished Budget Program of the G.F.O.A. and be submitted thereto for peer review. 

Balanced Budget 

It shall be a requirement each year for the budget of each fund to be balanced.  This means that total 

resources available, including prior year ending resources plus projected revenues, shall be equal to or 

greater than the projected expenditures for the coming year.  In a case where a deficit fund balance does 

occur, the goal shall be to limit deficits to only those amounts representing one-time capital expenditures 

and/or to adjust revenues and/or expenses so that the deficit is eliminated in no more than two budget years. 

Public Hearings, Availability of Budget to Public  

Upon completion of the Proposed Budget to Council, the City holds public hearings in August and 

September. A copy of the Proposed Budget is made available in the City Secretary’s Office, the Bay City 

Library, and on the City’s website.  These hearings provide the Citizens of Bay City a chance to ask 

questions as well as an opportunity for Council to hear any recommendations before final approval of the 

budget.  

Cost Center Accounting and Budgeting 

It shall be the policy of the City to allocate cost, and budget accordingly, to the various funds to the extent 

practical.  This includes such items as utility costs, fuel costs, vehicle lease charges, overhead manpower 

and insurance fees. 

 

 

Page 21

ITEM #9.



  
Page 2 

 
  

Bond Ratings 

It shall be the City's long-term goal to improve its bond ratings for general obligation bonds and revenue 

bonds. The City's policy shall be to manage its budget and financial affairs in such a way so as to promote 

enhancement of its bond ratings. This financial management includes the following: 

 

 Develop and maintain a multi- year operating budget  

 Develop and maintain a multi-year capital improvements plan 

 Implement financial procedures to quickly identify financial problems & limit budget shortfalls 

 Review projected revenue methodologies annually 

 Review method of determining appropriate cash reserve levels annually 

Administrative Overhead Fee to Enterprise Funds  

It shall be the budgetary policy of each enterprise fund to pay to the General Fund an amount as set by the 

Budget each year. This charge shall be set as a percent of fund revenues and shall be construed as a 

payment for general administrative overhead, including management, accounting, legal, and personnel 

services.  From an accounting perspective, such fee shall be treated as a fund operating transfer. 

Budget Projections for Revenues and Expenditures 

Most individual budget projections are a collaborative effort between the Division Heads, the Director of 

Finance, and the City Manager. The Director of Finance will note the methodology for estimating each 

major revenue or expense item budgeted; taking into consideration the insight of the respective Division 

Head.  Revenue and expense estimates are always to be conservative so as to reduce any potential for 

budget shortfalls.  

Maintenance of Plant and Equipment  

The operating budget will provide for the adequate maintenance and replacement of the capital plant, 

building, infrastructure, and equipment.  Deferral of such costs on a long-term continued basis will not be 

an acceptable policy to use in balancing the budget. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 22

ITEM #9.



  
Page 3 

 
  

 

Financial Management Policies 
 

Fund Balance Policy 
 

Purpose 

The purpose of this policy is to establish a key element of the financial stability of the City of Bay City 

by setting guidelines for fund balance in accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board 

(GASB) Statement No. 54.  Unassigned fund balance is an important measure of economic stability and 

it is essential that the City maintain adequate levels of unassigned fund balance to mitigate financial risk 

that can occur from unforeseen revenue fluctuations, unanticipated expenditures, and other similar 

circumstances.  This policy will ensure the City maintains adequate fund balances in the operating fund 

with the capacity to: 

 

1. Provide sufficient cash flow for daily financial needs, 

2. Secure and maintain investment grade bond ratings, 

3. Offset significant economic downturns or revenue shortfalls, and 

4. Provide funds for unforeseen expenditures related to emergencies. 

 

Definitions 

 

Fund Equity – A fund’s equity is generally the difference between its assets and its liabilities.   

 

Fund Balance – The fund equity of a governmental fund for which an accounting distinction is made 

between the portions that are spendable and nonspendable.   

Fund Balance reporting in governmental funds: Fund balance will be reported in governmental funds 

under the following categories using the definitions provided by GASB Statement No. 54: 

 

1) Nonspendable fund balance – includes the portion of net resources that cannot be spent because 

of their form (i.e. inventory, long-term loans, or prepaids) or because they must remain in-tact 

such as the principal of an endowment.   

 

2) Restricted fund balance – includes the portion of net resources on which limitations are 

imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors, or by laws or regulations of other governments (i.e. 

externally imposed limitations).  Amounts can be spent only for the specific purposes stipulated 

by external resource providers or as allowed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling 

legislation.  Examples include impact fees, grants, and debt covenants. 

 

3) Committed fund balance – includes the portion of net resources upon which the Council has 

imposed limitations on use.  Amounts that can be used only for the specific purposes determined 

by a formal action of the council.  Commitments may be changed or lifted only by the Council 

taking the same formal action that originally imposed the constraint.  The formal action must be 

approved before the end of the fiscal year in which the commitment will be reflected on the 

financial statements. An example would be committing hotel/motel tax funds for future 

consideration of a reconstruction project (i.e. Visitor’ Center). 

Page 23

ITEM #9.



  
Page 4 

 
  

 

4) Assigned fund balance – includes the portion of net resources for which an intended use has 

been established by the City Council or the City Official authorized to do so by the City Council. 

Assignments of fund balance are much less formal than commitments and do not require formal 

action for their imposition or removal.  In governmental funds other than the general fund, 

assigned fund balance represents the amount that is not restricted or committed which indicates 

that resources are, at a minimum, intended to be used for the purpose of that fund.  An example 

would be encumbrances (i.e. Purchase Orders) for purchase of goods and/or supplies and/or 

construction services. 

Authority to Assign - The City Council delegates the responsibility to assign funds to the City 

Manager or their designee to be used for specific purposes.  City Council shall have the authority 

to assign any amount of funds to be used for specific purposes.  Such assignments cannot exceed 

the available (spendable, unrestricted, uncommitted) fund balance in any particular fund.  The 

assignments may occur subsequent to fiscal year-end.  

5) Unassigned fund balance – includes the amounts in the general fund in excess of what can 

properly be classified in one of the other four categories of fund balance.  It is the residual 

classification of the general fund and includes all amounts not contained in other classifications.  

Unassigned amounts are technically available for any purpose.   

 

Minimum Unassigned Fund Balance  

General Fund - Being a City on the Gulf Coast, it shall be the goal of the City to maintain a fund balance 

in the General Fund equal to 120 days of the operating expenditures and a policy to maintain a unassigned 

fund balance of no less than 90 days of operating expenditures and outgoing transfers as to provide 

operating liquidity and contingency funding for non-specific unscheduled expenditures such as natural 

disasters or major unexpected expenditures. In the event that the unassigned fund balance is calculated to 

be less than the policy stipulates, the City shall plan to adjust budget resources in subsequent fiscal 

years to restore the balance. 

 

Hotel/Motel Tax Fund – Since the City’s Convention Center qualifies for use of Hotel/Tax, it shall be the 

goal of the City to maintain a fund balance in the Hotel/Motel Fund to support the annual cost for repairs 

and maintenance of the Civic Center. The proper level of this unassigned fund balance will be based on 

the most recent three-year average cost of building maintenance plus the most recent insurance payment 

for the Civic Center or $50,000 whichever is greater.  

Committed Fund Balances 

Fixed or Capital Asset Replacement- The City Council commits an additional portion of the General Fund 

Reserve for fixed asset replacement related to machinery and equipment. On an annual basis, the City 

strives to commit dollars equal to one year’s depreciation expense of machinery and equipment for assets 

on record as of the previous fiscal year end. The balance at year end in this account will be the committed 

fund balance. 

 

 

 

 

Page 24

ITEM #9.



  
Page 5 

 
  

 

 

 

 

Replenishment of Minimum Fund Balance Reserves 

 

If unassigned fund balance unintentionally falls below 90 days or if it is anticipated that at the 

completion of any fiscal year the projected unassigned fund balance will be less than the minimum 

requirement, the City Manager shall prepare and submit a plan to restore the minimum required level as 

soon as economic conditions allow. The plan shall detail the steps necessary for the replenishment of 

fund balance as well as an estimated timeline for achieving such. 

 

These steps may include, but are not limited to, identifying new, nonrecurring, or alternative sources of 

revenue; increasing existing revenues, charges and/or fees; use of year end surpluses; and/or enacting 

cost saving measures such as holding capital purchases, reducing departmental operating budgets, 

freezing vacant positions, and/or reducing the workforce.  The replenishment of fund balance to the 

minimum level shall be accomplished within a three to four-year period.  If restoration of the reserve 

cannot be accomplished within such a period without severe hardship to the City of Bay City, then the 

Council shall establish an extended timeline for attaining the minimum balance.   

 

Order of Expenditure of Funds 

 

When multiple categories of fund balance are available for expenditure (for example, a construction 

project is being funded partly by a grant, funds set aside by the Council, and unassigned fund balance), 

the Council will first spend the most restricted funds before moving down to the next most restrictive 

category with available funds.   

 

Appropriation of Unassigned Fund Balance   

 

Appropriation from the minimum unassigned fund balance shall require the approval of the City Council 

and shall be utilized only for one-time expenditures, such as capital purchases, and not for ongoing 

operating expenditures unless a viable revenue plan designed to sustain the expenditure is 

simultaneously adopted.  

 

The Council may appropriate unassigned fund balances for emergency purposes, as deemed necessary, 

even if such use decreases the fund balance below the established minimum.   

 

Monitoring and Reporting 

 

The Director of Finance shall be responsible for monitoring and reporting the City’s reserve balances.  

The City Manager is directed to make recommendations to the Council on the use of reserve funds both 

as an element of the annual operating budget submission and from time to time throughout the fiscal 

year as needs may arise. 

 

Compliance with the provisions of the policy shall be reviewed as a part of the annual operating budget 

adoption process and subsequent review will be included in the annual audit and financial statement 

preparation procedures.  

Page 25

ITEM #9.



  
Page 6 

 
  

 

 

 

 

 

Fund Balance Policy for Component Units 

 

Each Component Unit (i.e. Bay City Community Development, Bay City Gas Company) shall create a fund 

balance/reserve policy that shall be approved by the City Council.  

Revenue Management Policy 

The City strives for the following optimum characteristics in its revenue system: 

 Simplicity and Certainty. The City shall strive to keep the revenue classification system simple 

to promote understanding of the revenue sources. The City shall describe its revenue sources and 

enact consistent collection policies to provide assurances that the revenue is collected according 

to budgets and plans. 

 Equity. The City shall make every effort to maintain equity in its revenue system structure. The 

City shall minimize all forms of subsidization between entities, funds, services, utilities, and 

customers. 

 Realistic and Conservative Estimates. Revenues are to be estimated realistically. Revenues of 

volatile nature shall be budgeted conservatively. 

 Centralized Reporting. Receipts will be submitted daily to the Finance Department for deposit 

and investment. Daily transaction reports and supporting documentation will be prepared. 

 Review of Fees and Charges. The City shall review all fees and charges annually in order to 

match fees and charges with the cost of providing that service. 

 Aggressive Collection Policy. The City shall follow an aggressive policy of collecting revenues. 

Utility services will be discontinued (i.e. turned off) for non-payment in accordance with 

established policies and ordinances. The Matagorda County Tax Office is responsible for 

delinquent tax collection, through the central collection agency, shall be encouraged to collect 

delinquent property taxes using an established tax suit policy and sale of real and personal 

property to satisfy non-payment of property taxes. A warrant officer in the Police Division will 

aggressively pursue outstanding warrants, and the Court will use a collection agency to pursue 

delinquent fines. 

 

Use of Fund Balance and Non-Recurring Revenues  

The City will use non-recurring revenues and excess fund balance for capital expenditures or for non-

recurring expenditures.  These non-recurring revenues will not be used to fund recurring type maintenance 

and operating costs. For example, the City receives annual contributions from the City’s two component 

units- the Bay City Gas Company and the Bay City Community Development Corporation. These 

Page 26

ITEM #9.



  
Page 7 

 
  

appropriations are treated as non-recurring in the sense that they are committed for capital expenditures 

(i.e. park amenities and/or street projects).  

 

 

Property Tax Revenue 

 All real and business personal property located within the City shall be valued at 100% of the fair 

market value based on the appraisal supplied by the Matagorda County Appraisal District. Reappraisal 

and reassessment is provided by the Appraisal District. A ninety-eight percent (98%) collection rate shall 

serve each year as a goal for tax collections and the budgeted revenue projection shall be based in 

average collection rate calculated by the Matagorda County Appraisal District. Property tax rates shall be 

maintained at a rate adequate to fund an acceptable service level. Based upon taxable values, rates will 

be adjusted to fund this service level. Collection services shall be contracted out with a collection 

agency, currently the Matagorda County Tax Office. 

Interest Income 

Interest earned from investment of available monies, whether pooled or not, shall be distributed to the 

funds in accordance with the equity balance of the fund from which monies were invested. 

User Based Fees and Service Charges 

For services associated with a user fee or charge, the direct and indirect costs of that service shall be 

offset wholly or partially by a fee where possible. There shall be an annual review of fees and charges to 

ensure that the fees provide adequate coverage of costs of services.  

Water and Wastewater Rates and other fees for Services 

Water and wastewater shall be set to generate revenues required to cover operating expenditures, meet the 

legal requirements of applicable bond covenants, and provide for an adequate level of working capital. It 

is the goal of the City that the Water and Wastewater Fund, and other enterprise funds, not be subsidized by 

property tax revenue.   

Intergovernmental Revenues/Grants/Special Revenues 

Grant revenues and other special revenues shall be spent for the purpose(s) intended. The City shall 

review grant match requirements and include in the budget all grant revenues and expenditures. 

Collection of Charges 

The City will follow a policy of collecting, on a timely basis, all fees, charges, taxes and other revenues 

properly due to the City.  The City will follow an aggressive policy of collecting all delinquencies due to 

the City.  

Revenue Monitoring 

Revenues actually received are to be regularly compared to budgeted revenues (at least monthly) with a 

formal report to City Council at least quarterly. If revenue estimates are down, the Director of Finance 

shall recommend to Council a corrective action to minimize the impact on the budget at the next available 

Council Meeting. 

 

 

Page 27

ITEM #9.



  
Page 8 

 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Expenditure Control Policy 

Appropriations 

The responsibility for budgetary control lies with the Department Head. Department Heads may not 

approve expenditures that exceed monies available at the departmental budget level excluding personnel 

and capital expenditures. Capital expenditures are approved by the City Council on a per project basis 

normally during the annual budget process.  

Amendments to the Budget 

In accordance with the City Charter, under Article 10.14 (Budget Amendments after Adoption) provides, 

that if, during the fiscal year, the City Treasurer certifies that there are available for appropriation 

revenues in excess of those estimated in budget, the Council, by ordinance, may make supplemental 

appropriations for the fiscal year up to the amount of the excess.  

Central Control 

Unspent funds in salary and capital allocation object codes may not be spent for any purpose other than 

their specifically intended purpose without prior authorization of City Manager. 

City Manager’s Authority to Amend the Budget 
The City Manager is authorized to transfer budgeted amounts within and among departments; however any 

revisions that alter the total expenditures/expenses must be approved by the City Council. 

Purchasing 

All purchases shall be made in accordance with the Purchasing Policies approved by the City Council.  

Prompt Payment 

All invoices approved for payment by the proper City authorities shall be paid by the Finance 

Department within thirty (30) calendar days of receipt, in accordance with the provisions of state law. 

Proper procedures shall be established that enables the City to take advantage of all purchase discounts, 

except in the instance where payments can be reasonably and legally delayed in order to maximize the 

City's investable cash. 

 

Long-Term Debt Policy 

Revenue Bond Debt Service Account  

It shall be the policy of the City to always be in strict compliance with the requirements of the ordinance 

that created the Revenue Bond Debt Service Fund.  Monthly transfers are to be made to this account each 

year in accordance with the bond debt service payment schedule.  The balance in the account must be 

adequate to cover semi-annual payments as they become due. 

General Obligation Bond Debt Service Account 

Page 28

ITEM #9.



  
Page 9 

 
  

It shall be the policy of the City to always be in strict compliance with the requirements of the ordinance 

that created the General Obligation Bond Interest and Sinking Fund Account.  Taxes, as applicable shall be 

distributed to this account monthly as received.  Utility Revenues transferred to the Interest and Sinking 

Fund Account shall occur, as needed prior to the semi-annual payment dates. The balance in the account 

must be adequate to cover semi-annual payments as they become due. 

 

Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) 

The City will develop a multi-year plan to present to Council each year for approval. The City will provide 

a list of proposed capital improvements, funding recommendations, and prospective timing of projects. CIP 

projects shall be for equipment over $10,000, infrastructure over $50,000 and facilities over $25,000. Any 

maintenance and operational cost shall be disclosed that could impact future operating budgets.  

Debt Policy Guidelines 

 

 The City will limit long-term debt to only those capital projects that cannot be financed from 

current revenues. 

 

 The City will not use long-term debt to finance recurring maintenance and operating costs. 

 

 The City will not issue long-term debt for a period longer than the estimated useful life of the 

capital project. 

 

 Decisions will be made based on long term goals rather than a short- term fix. 

 

 Debt Service Funds will be managed and invested according to all federal, state, and local laws 

 

 Coverage Ratios of Revenue Bonds will always be in compliance with the minimum coverage ratio 

required by the revenue bond ordinances. It shall be the goal of the City to achieve a budgeted 

coverage ratio of 1.60. 

 

Other Fund Use Information 

Governmental Funds 

Most government functions are financed through governmental funds. The acquisition, use, and balances 

of the City’s expendable resources and related current liabilities are accounted for through governmental 

funds. Long-term liabilities and fixed assets are not accounted for through governmental funds.  

Proprietary Funds 

These funds listed below are used to account for the ongoing activities of the City that are similar to 

those found in the private sector. These funds are financed through user charges to recover costs of 

services provided. Proprietary funds use accrual accounting, which means revenues are recognized when 

they are earned by the City and expenses are recognized when they are incurred. Enterprise funds are 

considered proprietary funds and are used to account for operations for the City’s Public Utility Fund 

and Airport Fund.   

 

Page 29

ITEM #9.



  
Page 10 

 
  

Working Capital Position- the goal shall be to maintain a working capital position equal to 120 days of 

the operating budget and a policy to maintain a working capital position no less than 90 days of the 

operating budget.  

 

 

 

Public Utility Fund  

It shall be the general policy of the City to commit a portion of the reserve for fixed asset replacement as it 

strives to budget for revenue to cover depreciation.  

Airport Fund  

It will be the general policy of the City that the fees collected will be spent on maintenance of the facilities 

grounds, and other structures. The goal shall be to reduce the reliance of the general fund tax dollars for this 

purpose. 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Implementation and Review 

Upon adoption of this policy the City Council authorizes the City Manager to establish any standards and 

procedures which may be necessary for its implementation. The Director of Finance shall review this policy 

at least annually and make recommendations for changes to the Mayor and City Council. 

 

 

PASSED AND APPROVED AT BAY CITY TEXAS THIS 12th DAY OF SEPTEMBER 2023. 

 

 

__________________________ 

Robert K. Nelson, Mayor 

City of Bay City 

 

 

ATTEST:         

 

 

_________________________    

Jeanna Thompson, City Secretary    

Page 30

ITEM #9.


	Top
	ITEM #1.	Council Meeting Minutes of 8/15/23
	City Council Workshop Minutes 230815

	ITEM #2.	Meeting ws Minutes of 8/22/23
	City Council Workshop Minutes 230822

	ITEM #3.	Council Meeting Minutes of 8/22/23
	City Council Regular Meeting Minutes 230822

	ITEM #4.	Police Surplus
	Staff Agenda Item Submission Rev

	ITEM #5.	Copy of Tourism Logo
	ITEM #6.	Solid Waste Contract
	ITEM #7.	Curfew Ordinance Repeal
	Ordinance Repealing Curfew

	ITEM #8.	Proposed Budget Amendment
	Budget Amendments to Proposed Budget FY 24_Prior to Public Hearings redo

	ITEM #9.	Budget & Financial Policy
	Executive Summary- Budgetary Policy
	BudgetaryFinancial_Mgt_Policy24

	Bottom

